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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI 

NORTHERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

TED BRENT ALEXANDER

PLAINTIFF 

CIVIL ACTION NO.:   3:20-cr-00031- 
CWR-LGI 

DEFENDANT 

TRUSTMARK’S MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM 

Trustmark National Bank (“Trustmark”), pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P 17(c) (2) and 47 and 

L. U. Crim. R. 47, moves to quash the subpoena duces tecum served on it by Defendant Ted Brent 

Alexander (“Alexander”) as follows:  

I.  Introduction 

On September 12, 2022, Alexander served a subpoena duces tecum (“Alexander SDT”) on 

Trustmark, seeking unspecified documents pertaining to Trustmark’s communications with 

government regulators and/or investigators regarding Lamar Adams and/or Madison Timber. A 

copy of the Alexander SDT is attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The return date on the subpoena is 

September 20, 2022.  The return date was extended to September 30, 2022, by agreement between 

Alexander and Trustmark. 

The Alexander SDT is improper, and should be quashed, for the following reasons:

 The subpoena seeks information that is not relevant in the criminal case against 
Alexander. 

 The subpoena seeks information that is privileged under federal law.  The 
privilege belongs to the federal government.  Trustmark would be subject to 
severe penalties if it complied with the subpoena.  

 The subpoena would place an undue burden on Trustmark, because of the 
complexity of searching for and producing the requested information, and 
because Alexander can more readily obtain the requested information from 
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other sources – likely including discovery from the prosecution.   

For these reasons, this Court should quash this subpoena.

II.  Factual and Procedural Background 

From approximately 2004 until April 2018, Lamar Adams operated a Ponzi scheme using 

the names Madison Timber Company LLC and Madison Timber Properties LLC (sham entities 

collectively referred to as “Madison Timber”).  He told investors, to whom he guaranteed (and 

paid) high rates of return, that they were purchasing shares of timber tract investments.   Mills v. 

TNB Order, Doc. #671 at 1. But there were no timber tracts, timber, or contracts with lumber mills.  

The scheme collapsed in April 2018, when Adams turned himself in to the United States Attorney’s 

Office in Jackson, Mississippi and pleaded guilty to wire fraud. He is now incarcerated for 

approximately 20 years.   

The Madison Timber Ponzi scheme spawned numerous criminal prosecutions (including 

this one) and civil lawsuits, including a case against Trustmark and other institutions that provided 

banking services to Adams/Madison Timber.2  Adams/Madison Timber held bank accounts at 

Trustmark during the period from 2009 through late 2016.   

The Alexander SDT asks Trustmark to produce:  

1. All communications related to Lamar Adams and/or Madison Timber by 
agents or officers of Trustmark Bank with or between government 
regulators and/or investigators; and 

1 See March 1, 2021, Order [Doc 67] entered by Hon. Carlton W. Reeves, granting in part and denying in part 
Trustmark’s Motion to Dismiss Civil Action No. 3:19-cv-941-CWR-FKB “Mills v. TNB Doc. #67 Order”).  

2 At the request of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), this Court appointed a receiver (Alysson 
Mills) to take charge of Adams/Madison Timber’s assets and to attempt to provide some measure of financial relief to 
Adams’s victims. Mills v. TNB Doc. #67 Order at 2. The Receiver has sued banks, bankers, lawyers, financial advisors, 
and other defendants that did business with Adams/Madison Timber, including Trustmark, alleging that they knew about 
the scheme long before it collapsed, and rather than stop Adams’s/Madison Timber’s fraud (in some unexplained 
fashion), they chose to facilitate it. Trustmark adamantly denies this false narrative spun by the Receiver and denies that 
Trustmark did anything improper, much less knowingly facilitated fraud. The Receiver sued Trustmark in Civil Action 
No. 3:19-cv-941-CWR-FKB. That case was eventually consolidated for discovery purposes with three other lawsuits 
against companies with which Madison Timber did business. See In re Consolidated Discovery in Cases Filed by 
Alysson Mills, in her capacity as Receiver for Arthur Lamar Adams and Madison Timber Properties, LLC, Civil Action 
No. 3:22-cv-36-CWR-FKB (“In Re Consolidated Discovery”). 
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2. All documents created or produced in response to the aforementioned 
communications. 

Trustmark objects to the subpoena, as explained below, and moves the Court to quash it.  

III.  Argument 

A. The subpoena seeks irrelevant material. 

To survive a motion to quash, Alexander must satisfy a four-part test showing that: 

(1)  the documents are evidentiary and relevant; (2) they are not otherwise 
procurable, with due diligence, in advance of trial; (3) the party cannot 
properly prepare for trial without such production and inspection in advance 
of trial; and (4) the application was made in good faith and is not a fishing 
expedition.   

U.S. v. Dale, 155 F.R.D. 149, 151 (S.D. Miss. 1994) (quoting U.S. v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 699-700 

(1974).  Alexander cannot meet the elements of this test. 

The indictment against Alexander [Doc 4, “the Indictment” herein] accuses him of 

conspiring with Jon Seawright “to defraud investors by soliciting millions of dollars of funds under 

false pretenses, failing to use investors’ funds as promised, and misappropriating and converting 

investors’ funds to ALEXANDER’s and SEAWRIGHT’s own benefit and the benefit of others 

without the knowledge or authorization of the investors.”  (P. 2, ¶ 6.)  The Indictment includes 

allegations that Alexander and Seawright represented they “would receive no distribution of 

payment of fees before the investors,” and that they would “inspect the property related to the 

Timber Rights” and “inspect the executed agreement(s) with the timber mill(s).”  (P. 3, ¶ 7.)  The 

Indictment further alleges that “[i]n fact, defendants TED BRENT ALEXANDER and JON 

DARRELL SEAWRIGHT received distributions and payments, including 3% of the amount 

invested, immediately upon transferring the investment to the broker. Contrary to their promises, 

defendants TED BRENT ALEXANDER and JON DARRELL SEAWRIGHT failed to inspect 

each property underlying each investment, and they failed to verify that supposed lumber mill 

agreements were in existence and valid.”  (P. 3, ¶ 8.)  Additionally, the Indictment alleges that 
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“ALEXANDER and SEAWRIGHT represented to their investors, and led their investors to, 

believe, that ALEXANDER and SEAWRIGHT diligently were inspecting each tract of land, each 

document, each deed and each contract in support of their investments. In fact, defendants TED 

BRENT ALEXANDER and JON DARRELL SEAWRIGHT did not.”  (Pp. 3-4, ¶ 9.)   

The Indictment does not allege that Alexander and Seawright deceived the government; nor 

does any fact allegation rest on government action or inaction.  The Indictment does not contain 

any charges whatsoever that would be contradicted by evidence that Trustmark communicated 

with regulators about the Adams/Madison Timber accounts.   

Per Federal Rule of Evidence 401, “Evidence is relevant if: (a) it has any tendency to make 

a fact more or less probable than it would without the evidence; and (b) the fact is of consequence 

in determining the action.”   No information about Trustmark’s hypothetical communications with 

the government would make any fact allegation in the Indictment more or less  probable than it 

would be without the requested evidence. Nothing in the documents sought could make it more or 

less likely, for example, that Alexander reached an agreement with Seawright to recruit investors 

to invest in Madison Timber, or that Alexander and Seawright represented to investors that they 

were inspecting property, or that they did or did not inspect property.   As such, none of the 

requested information and documents are relevant. 

B. The subpoena seeks privileged information and documents Trustmark 
is not currently in a position to produce without negative legal consequences.  

Federal law prohibits Trustmark or its agents from disclosing materials that are sought in 

Alexander’s SDT.  In particular, Trustmark’s duty to communicate with regulators or law 

enforcement agencies could only arise from Bank Secrecy Act/Anti-Money Laundering 

obligations, or from subpoenas served in connection with law enforcement activities.  Trustmark 

cannot produce such documents, if they exist.  
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1. FinCEN, as a regulator, and other agencies – Suspicious Activity Report Materials 

Trustmark is required by federal law, and related regulations, to maintain a Bank Secrecy 

Act/Anti-Money Laundering (“BSA/AML”) program.3 The ultimate directive of those laws is that 

a bank must submit Suspicious Activity Reports (SARs) to the federal government’s Financial 

Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN),4 if the bank “detect[s] a known or suspected violation of 

Federal law or a suspicious transaction related to a money laundering activity or a violation of the 

Bank Secrecy Act.” 12 C.F.R. § 21.11, “Suspicious Activity Report” (OCC).5 Pursuant to federal 

law, Trustmark is thus required to submit Suspicious Activity Reports, or “SARs,” to the federal 

government’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) when Trustmark suspects certain 

types of criminal activity.   

As explained below, federal law prohibits Trustmark from disclosing any SARs, or even 

whether it has filed any SARs.   Trustmark therefore does not admit or deny that it filed any 

SARs, at any time, with respect to Adams/Madison Timber.  Alexander’s SDT would clearly 

encompass not only SARs, but also Trustmark’s communications, if any, with FinCEN (or any 

other agency or reglator) about SARs, if any were filed with regard to Lamar Adams or Madison 

3 12 U.S.C.A. §§ 1829b, 1951 to 1959; 31 U.S.C.A. §§ 5311 to 5355. 

4 The agency’s website identifies the key laws as follows: 

The Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 — which legislative framework is 
commonly referred to as the “Bank Secrecy Act” (BSA) — requires U.S. financial institutions to assist 
U.S. government agencies to detect and prevent money laundering. Specifically, the act requires 
financial institutions to keep records of cash purchases of negotiable instruments, file reports of cash 
transactions exceeding $10,000 (daily aggregate amount), and to report suspicious activity that might 
signify money laundering, tax evasion, or other criminal activities. It was passed by the Congress of 
the United States in 1970. The BSA is sometimes referred to as an “anti-money laundering” (AML) 
law or jointly as “BSA/AML.” Several acts, including provisions in Title III of the USA PATRIOT 
Act of 2001, and the Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2020, have been enacted up to the present to 
amend the BSA. (See 12 USC 1829b, 12 USC 1951-19600, 31 USC 5311-5314, 5316-5336, and 31 
CFR Chapter X [formerly 31 CFR Part 103].) 

 FinCEN website, https://www.fincen.gov/resources/statutes-and-regulations/bank-secrecy-act (last visited 
September 5, 2022). 

5 As a National Banking Association, Trustmark is regulated under the auspices of the Office of the Comptroller of 
the Currency (OCC). 
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Timber (which Trustmark expressly does not confirm or deny).6  The SDT would further 

encompass other materials that would reveal the existence of SARs, if any were filed.  

Federal law strictly prohibits banks from disclosing Suspicious Activity Reports. 

(k) Confidentiality of SARs. A SAR, and any information that would reveal the 
existence of a SAR, are confidential, and shall not be disclosed except as authorized 
in this paragraph (k). 

(1) Prohibition on disclosure by national banks — 

(i) General rule. No national bank, and no director, officer, employee, or 
agent of a national bank shall disclose a SAR or any information that would 
reveal the existence of a SAR. Any national bank, and any director, officer, 
employee, or agent of any national bank that is subpoenaed or otherwise 
requested to disclose a SAR, or any information that would reveal the 
existence of a SAR, shall decline to produce the SAR or such information, 
citing this section and 31 U.S.C. 5318(g)(2)(A)(i), and shall notify the 
following of any such request and the response thereto: 

(A) Director, Litigation Division, Office of the Comptroller of the 
Currency; and 

(B) The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN). 

12 C.F.R. § 21.11(k) (emphasis added). In addition to substantial civil penalties under 31 U.S.C. 

§ 5321, it is a federal crime for a financial institution’s “director, officer, employee, or agent” 

willfully to “reveal any information that would reveal” a SAR has been filed. 31 U.S.C. § 

5318(g)(2)(A)(i); 31 U.S.C.A. § 5322.  

Trustmark’s (and other banks’) agents are not only prohibited from producing SARs, if any 

exist; they are also legally prohibited from disclosing whether a SAR was filed. Cotton v. 

PrivateBank and Tr. Co., 235 F. Supp. 2d 809, 815 (N.D. Ill. 2002) (rejecting discovery requests 

for “drafts of SARs or other work product or privileged communications that relate to the SAR 

itself. These are not to be produced because they would disclose whether a SAR has been prepared 

6 As further described in this motion, Trustmark is prohibited from saying whether any SARs exist and is being 
meticulously careful not to run afoul of this prohibition.
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or filed.”).7

Alexander’s two document requests are very broad.  It is possible that some 

communications between Trustmark and government agencies (Item 1) and some documents 

“created and produced in response to” Trustmark’s communications with FinCEN or other 

agencies (Item 2) might not reveal the existence vel non of a SAR and thus might not be privileged 

themselves, out of context.  But the burden on Trustmark of sifting through thousands of pages of 

documents pertaining to its BSA/AML program activity related to Madison Timber and/or Lamar 

Adams over at least seven years to find a potential small subset of documents that could be 

produced would be unreasonable, even if Alexander could somehow meet the four-part test 

espoused in Dale.   

In related civil litigation, Trustmark has filed the Declaration of Wanda Moncrief, which 

is attached to this Motion as Exhibit B.  Ms. Moncrief has responsibility for BSA/AML activities 

of Trustmark.  Her Declaration explains Trustmark’s processes and procedures in connection with 

BSA/AML activities, and also explains the reasons that in the context of the Adams/Madison 

Timber accounts, “It would be misleading and confusing to review any of [Trustmark’s] 

BSA/AML Department’s records outside the context of the complete files.”  Ms. Moncrief’s 

Declaration makes it clear that the Alexander SDT seeks information that is privileged (to the 

extent the information exists), and that production of partial records would be misleading and 

confusing. 8

7 Trustmark is currently litigating the propriety of disclosure of some of the type of materials the Alexander SDT seeks 
for use in its own defense in the Receiver’s civil case against it.  Trustmark has explored various pathways to permit 
disclosure of such non-public documents and has also requested that the Receiver ask the SEC for information and 
documents in its possession (that would appear to encompass some of what Alexander seeks from Trustmark), including 
Suspicious Activity Reports and supporting documents, if any exist (which Trustmark neither confirms nor denies), filed 
by anyone.  The SEC has the right to provide nonpublic information to the Receiver because she is a receiver appointed 
in a case commenced by the SEC, and she would then be permitted to produce the material to Trustmark. 17 C.F.R. 
240.24-c-1(b)(6).  To date, the Receiver has refused to ask the SEC for this material.  

8 Thus, a partial production, out of context, likely would not be informative to Alexander and could potentially be 
misleading. The rule of completeness, as expressed in Fed. R. Evid. 106, provides that “if a party introduces all or part 
of a writing or recorded statement, an adverse party may require the introduction, at that time, of any other part — or 
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2. United States Attorneys’ Office and/or  
Federal Bureau of Investigation, as investigators 

It is public knowledge that both the United States Attorney’s Office (“USAO”) and the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) played roles in the investigation of the Madison Timber 

Ponzi scheme and Lamar Adams and that grand jury indictments have resulted, including the 

indictment of Alexander [Doc 4].  It seems probable that, as part of the criminal investigations, 

grand jury subpoenas were issued to various companies and individuals that conducted business 

with Madison Timber and Lamar Adams.  Those entities would then likely have had 

communications with the requesting investigator regarding any response to such a subpoena.  

As part of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act (“FIRREA”), 

enacted in the wake of the savings and loan crisis in the 1980s, Congress made certain revisions 

to Section 1510 of Title 18 of the United States Code to stiffen penalties for obstruction of justice. 

Specifically, Congress enacted provisions allowing an officer of a financial institution to be fined 

or imprisoned up to five years (or both) for disclosing the existence or contents of a grand jury 

subpoena or information furnished in response to such a subpoena to any other person if the 

subpoena pertains to the alleged violation of certain criminal statutes including the statutes that 

govern mail fraud and wire fraud.  18 U.S.C. § 1510(b)(1)-(3). 

In light of this statute, Trustmark cannot admit or deny that it received a grand jury 

subpoena in connection with any investigation of Madison Timber or Lamar Adams; Trustmark 

therefore is prohibited from disclosing any materials (if they existed) that might have been 

transmitted in connection with such subpoenas.  However, Trustmark notes that the Alexander 

SDT, as written, would encompass such communications.  Again, if such documents existed 

(which Trustmark does not admit or deny), Trustmark would not be in a position to produce them 

any other writing or recorded statement — that in fairness ought to be considered at the same time.” Per the Advisory 
Committee, “[t]he rule is based on two considerations. The first is the misleading impression created by taking 
matters out of context.” Advisory Committee Notes, 1972 Proposed Rules, Fed. R. Evid. 106 (emphasis added). 
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without risking fines and imprisonment.   

3. Other investigators or regulators 

Banking is a highly regulated industry.  Madison Timber was a significant Ponzi scheme 

potentially investigated by numerous state and federal government agencies (for example, the 

Internal Revenue Service, the Secret Service, the United States Postal Service Postal Inspection 

Service, the Mississippi Department of Banking and Consumer Finance, and/or the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s Office).  

It is therefore possible that Trustmark communicated with other regulators and/or 

investigators about Madison Timber and/or Lamar Adams during or after the banking relationship, 

before or after the downfall of the Ponzi scheme.  Because Alexander has not specified or narrowed 

in any way the type of the investigators, regulators, or communications he is referencing, it again 

unreasonable and oppressive, if not impossible, for Trustmark to search for such “communication 

needles” in the haystack of the whole universe of communications created during its banking 

relationship with, and after the downfall of, the Ponzi scheme to determine whether  other 

responsive documents exist (besides those described in this motion) and/or whether such 

communications, if any, are protected by privilege.   

Because the Alexander SDT arguably encompasses regulatory and investigatory 

documents that Trustmark could be punished for producing if those documents exist, it should be 

quashed.  

C. Compliance with the subpoena would be unreasonable and oppressive. 

The determination of whether this subpoena should be quashed is a matter of federal 

criminal and evidence law. United States v. Sinha, No. 1:14cr9-HSO-JMR, 2014 WL 12665157, 

at *2 (S. D. Miss. Nov. 24, 2014).  Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 17(c)(2) provides that 

“[o]n motion made promptly, the court may quash or modify the subpoena if compliance would 

be unreasonable or oppressive.”  
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Compared with the subpoenas duces tecum Alexander served on BankPlus and 

RiverHills Banks, the subpoena directed to Trustmark is extremely vague and contains 

essentially no limitations or qualifiers.  Alexander does not specify any dates, the type or identity 

of any regulator, the type or identity of any investigator, the particular subject matter (other than 

Lamar Adams/Madison Timber), the type or nature of communication sought, or the type or 

nature of any “document[s] created in response to” whatever type of communication the 

subpoena encompasses.  Alexander has the burden of requesting specific documents, and he 

must demonstrate the relevance of those documents, to use the Court’s subpoena power:   

The requesting party must make a good faith effort to obtain 
evidence and not embark on a fishing expedition. Bowman Dairy, 341 U.S. 
at 220. The specificity and relevance elements require a description that 
makes clear what documents are sought. Arditti, 955 F.3d at 345. The 
subpoena must refer to specific documents or, at least to specific kinds of 
documents. United States v. King, 164 F.R.D. 542, 546 (D.Kan.1996) 
(citing to 2 Charles A. Wright, Federal Practice and Procedure § 275 at 
159 (1982). The requesting party must specify why the documents are 
wanted, the information contained in the documents, the relevancy of those 
documents and potential admissibility. Id. (citing Arditti, 955 F.2d at 345-
46). 

U.S. v. Moultrie, CRIM. 3:08-CR-14, 2008 WL 3539745, at *3 (N.D. Miss. Aug. 8, 2008).   

The requests in the Alexander SDT are so broad and vague that Trustmark cannot 

reasonably be required to comply.  Trustmark would have to look through thousands of pages of 

documents created during Adams/Madison Timber’s approximately seven-year banking 

relationship with Trustmark to try to identify every document that could be classified as a 

“communication” with any entity that could be classified as a “government regulator or 

investigator” on any topic related to the banking services it provided to Madison Timber and/or 

Lamar Adams.  And then, Trustmark would have to identify each and every document of any 

nature that was “created or produced in response to” any communication it identified.  Finally, 

Trustmark would have to carefully sift through all such documents to determine which of the 

above-referenced privileges applied; Trustmark would also need to identify and redact personal 
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banking information and identifiers of third parties.  In light of the irrelevance of the information 

requested, Trustmark should not be held to that burden.  As this Court has stated in denying 

issuance of a Rule 17 subpoena: 

“Although rule 17 extends to material not subject to rule 16 
discovery, it is not intended to provide an additional means of discovery.” 
United States v. Arditti, 955 F.2d 331, 345 (5th Cir. 1992). To gain access 
to materials under Rule 17, Defendant must show “(1) the subpoenaed 
document is relevant, (2) it is admissible, and (3) it has been requested 
with adequate specificity.” Id. 

Defendant states that the requested documents are evidentiary, 
material, and relevant. Despite Defendant’s conclusory assertions, the 
subpoena does not contain specific requests, and Defendant has not 
demonstrated that the requested information is relevant or admissible. 
Without information concerning the content of nearly eight years’ worth 
of records and the relevance of such information, it appears that 
Defendant’s sweeping request is an attempt to use a Rule 17 subpoena as a 
“discovery device, which it is not.” United States v. Nixon, 777 F.2d 958, 
969 (5th Cir. 1985).   

U.S. v. Walters, 2:19-CR-51-KS-MTP, 2020 WL 3163263, at *1 (S.D. Miss. June 12, 2020).  See 

also U.S. v. Stokes, CRIM. 2:09-CR-001, 2009 WL 890676, at *1 (N.D. Miss. Apr. 1, 2009) 

(refusing to issue Rule 17 subpoena duces tecum to Regions bank, due to non-specificity and 

absence of showing of relevance of request for “documents reflecting communications, memos, 

reports related to the alleged crimes”; “documents referencing security breaches, internal 

investigations, FDIC investigations, disciplinary actions, communication ‘to and from’ attorneys 

related to the scheme”; and “banking records of Kenneth Blockett, Templebloc Construction, Inc., 

and Milton Tutwiler.”).   

A search to attempt to comply with this subpoena would necessarily be unreasonable and 

oppressive. There is no showing of relevance.  The Court should quash the subpoena because of its 

vagueness and overbreadth.  
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Alexander can request the documents he seeks from the specific regulators or investigators 

his requests envision, and he has provided no explanation for why he cannot do so.9  Indeed, given 

the disclosure obligations on the prosecution team—set by the U.S. Constitution, statutory law, and 

the Court’s standard Order Regarding Discovery—the Government is probably required to produce 

such materials to Alexander, to the extent such information is relevant. 

Alexander also has not explained why he cannot prepare for trial without the requested 

documents, which again consist of a large undefined universe of documents.  

Because the Alexander SDT does not meet the criteria of the four-part test espoused in 

Dale, supra, the Court should quash it.

IV.  Conclusion 

It would be unreasonable and oppressive to require Trustmark to comply with the very 

vague and broad Alexander SDT.  Any required compliance might also subject Trustmark to legal 

punishment.  For these reasons, this Court should quash the Alexander SDT. 

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Trustmark asks the Court to enter an order 

quashing Alexander’s criminal subpoena duces tecum to Trustmark.  

Respectfully submitted, this the 30th day of September 2022. 

Trustmark National Bank 

By: /s/ William F. Ray 
      William F. Ray 

OF COUNSEL: 
WATKINS & EAGER PLLC 
William F. Ray (MSB No. 4654) 
Paul H. Stephenson, III (MSB No. 7864) 
Stephanie M. Rippee (MSB No. 8998) 

9 Alexander has simply stated in his Motion for Issuance of Subpoena [Doc 48] that the United States Attorney’s Office 
(“USAO”) has indicated that it does not have, or cannot find, the requested documents. Depending on what documents 
Alexander actually seeks, there could be many other government “regulators” or “investigators” from which he can and 
should seek these documents via subpoena.   
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James M. Tyrone (MSB No. 102381) 
400 East Capitol Street 
Jackson, Mississippi 39201 
Post Office Box 650 
Jackson, Mississippi 39205 
Telephone: (601) 965-1900 
Facsimile: (601) 965-1901 
Email: wray@watkinseager.com 

pstephenson@watkinseager.com 
srippee@watkinseager.com 
mtyrone@watkinseager.com

Certificate of Conference  

Pursuant to L. U. Crim. R. 47(A), I, William F. Ray, hereby certify that as counsel for 

Trustmark National Bank, I have conferred with counsel for Ted Brent Alexander in a good faith 

attempt to resolve this matter without court intervention but was unable to do so.   

/s/ William F. Ray  
       William F. Ray 
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